2000

James R. Wilhelm, Linda Rose Wilhelm v. Pine Meadows Estates, Inc., Milton R. Farney, Marvin R. Shapiro, Robert C. Dolley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) (2000).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Are the Court's Findings of Fact with Respect to Historical Existence and use of the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road clearly erroneous? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: The question of whether the trial court's Finding of Fact are clearly erroneous is reviewed using a clearly erroneous standard. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992). "The clearly erroneous standard 'requires that if the findings . . . are against the clear weight of the evidence, if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made, the findings will be set aside.'" *State v. C.A.*, 995 P.2d 17 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting *In Re J.N.*, 960 P.2d 403, 407 (Utah App. 1998)). "In addition, a party challenging the court's findings must marshal the evidence in support of those findings, and then show that the marshaled evidence is insufficient, as a matter of law, to support the findings." *Id.* (citing *In re J.M.V.*, 958 P.2d 943, 947 (Utah App. 1998)).

2. Is the trial court's finding that there was not a ten-year period of uninterrupted use clearly erroneous? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: The question of whether the trial court's Finding of Fact are clearly erroneous is reviewed using a clearly erroneous standard. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992). "The clearly erroneous standard 'requires that if the findings . . . are against the clear weight of the evidence, if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made, the findings will be set aside.'" *State v. C.A.*, 995 P.2d 17 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting *In Re J.N.*, 960 P.2d 403, 407 (Utah App. 1998)). "In addition, a party challenging the court's findings must marshal the evidence in support of those findings, and then show that the marshaled evidence is insufficient, as a matter of law, to support the findings." *Id.* (citing *In re J.M.V.*, 958 P.2d 943, 947 (Utah App. 1998)).

3. Are the trial court's conclusions supported by the findings of fact and/or are the conclusions correct? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: The question of whether a trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its conclusions of law is reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., *State v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774, 782 (Utah 1991); *Kunzler v. O'Dell*, 855 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah App. 1993); *Woodward v. Fazzio*, 823 P.2d 474, 477 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Vigil*, 815 P.2d 1296, 1300 (Utah App. 1991). Additionally, conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.*

4. Did the trial court err in finding that there was not an uninterrupted ten year period of use of the road by the public prior to plaintiffs' permanent blocking

thereof? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: The question of whether the trial court's Finding of Fact are clearly erroneous is reviewed using a clearly erroneous standard. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992). "The clearly erroneous standard 'requires that if the findings . . . are against the clear weight of the evidence, if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made, the findings will be set aside.'" *State v. C.A.*, 995 P.2d 17 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting *In Re J.N.*, 960 P.2d 403, 407 (Utah App. 1998)). "In addition, a party challenging the court's findings must marshal the evidence in support of those findings, and then show that the marshaled evidence is insufficient, as a matter of law, to support the findings." *Id.* (citing *In re J.M.V.*, 958 P.2d 943, 947 (Utah App. 1998)).

5. Are the trial court's findings of fact sufficient to support its conclusion of law sufficiently detailed to support its ultimate decision that there was a legally sufficient blocking of the road and that the road was not a public thoroughfare? This was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: The question of whether a trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its conclusions of law is reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., *State v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774, 782 (Utah 1991); *Kunzler v. O'Dell*, 855 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah App. 1993); *Woodward v. Fazzio*, 823 P.2d 474, 477 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Vigil*, 815 P.2d 1296, 1300 (Utah App. 1991). Additionally, conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.*

6. Did the trial court err, as a matter of law, in concluding that there was not a ten-year uninterrupted period of use of the road and that the road was therefore not a public thoroughfare? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: This presents a question of law that should be reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992).

7. Did the trial court err by failing to consider all evidence pertaining to the existence of a public thoroughfare including evidence prior, during and/or after the warranty deeds were executed by defendant? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and objection to Plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment.

Standard of Review: This presents a question of law that should be reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992).

8. Did the court err in concluding that the statute of limitations had not expired and the court could rely upon the warranty deed to prevent defendant from asserting the public thoroughfare doctrine? This issue was raised and preserved below in Defendants written closing argument and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Standard of Review: This presents a question of law that should be reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994); *State v. Gardner*, 844 P.2d 293, 295 (Utah 1992).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

There are no Constitutional Provisions for the State of Utah or the United States.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. 72-5-104 (1999)

Utah Code Ann. §57-1-12 (2000)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Defendant Pine View Meadow Estates respectfully begs this Court's indulgence in using this section to try and give this Court both a flavor as well as the nature of this case. Defendant respectfully urges this Court to keep several important facts in mind as it reviews this case. Pine View Meadow Estates is a subdivision developer of high mountain property subdivided for the purpose of recreational living. Defendant developed the property in several different plat phases, although some of the phases were intertwined as the development proceeded. The plat upon which Plaintiff purchased two (2) lots (hereinafter "the lots") is in a subdivision titled Strawberry Valley Subdivision. Strawberry Valley is located adjacent to a second subdivision which was being developed simultaneously with Strawberry Valley. This subdivision is identified as the Ponderosa Villa. Plaintiff purchased the lots almost two (2) years after Defendant commenced construction and development of both Subdivisions.

In order to develop Ponderosa Villa, (the upper elevated subdivision), it was initially necessary to grade a road from Strawberry Valley, (the lower elevated subdivision), to Ponderosa Villa. The first constructed road, known as Valley View Drive and referred in the case as the Wilhelm Road, is the bases of this dispute. The road commences from Bonanza Circle and traverses up and across lots 38 and 39 of Strawberry Valley to Ponderosa Villa. A second road was constructed a short time later and was also constructed at the time Plaintiff purchased lots 38 and 39.

Plaintiff purchased lots 38 and 39 in Strawberry Valley in early summer of 1968 and made payments on the lots for several years prior to actually being issued warranty deeds, and was well aware, at the time the deeds were issued, that people were utilizing Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road to access their properties in Ponderosa Villa or to access adjacent forest land. Governmental agencies utilized Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road on a regular basis to service fire protection for neighboring areas and it was testified by many that hunters, strangers, guests, sight-seers, and every form of public utilized Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road during the roads existence.

This is a case wherewith Plaintiff is attempting to close and blockade Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road which has been open and available for use by the public for over thirty (30) years. Plaintiff's claim of right to close Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road is based upon a Warranty Deed executed by Defendant Pine View Meadows Estates in the early 1970's which failed to identify and describe the roadway easement. Plaintiff also claims a right of closure because of three alleged brief and temporary road blocks in the years 1973, 1980 and 1986. Specifically, Plaintiff asserts that when Garkane Power trenched an underground power line across the road during the years of 1973-74, through use of an

independent contractor, Plaintiff may rely on the trench as an effective blockage of the road; in 1980, Plaintiff alleges that he blocked the road for a weekend with the use of a car parked horizontally across the road; and in 1986 by felling a tree across the road which was removed by unknown persons for firewood. Defendant asserts that the road has been open to the public for over thirty years and should thus be deemed a public road. Defendant asserts further that all three of the road blocks were insufficient based on the nature of blocking and lack of notice to the public.

Plaintiff initially instituted this action demanding actual damages, punitive damages, attorney fees and closure of Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road. The only matter before this Court on appeal is the trial court's order that Plaintiff be permitted to close Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road. Defendant asserts that Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road has been open to the public for more than thirty (30) years and that by virtue of Utah Code Ann. §75-2-104, (1953 as amended), Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road has been abandoned and deemed a public road, and Plaintiff has no authority to block or close Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road and prevent its use by the general public.

Course of the Proceedings

On or about June 25, 1997, Plaintiffs filed their Complaint against Defendants alleging a breach of warranty under the deed executed by Defendants to Plaintiffs and requesting damages and judgment against Defendants. Defendants filed their Answer and Counterclaim on or about August 6, 1997 alleging that no breach of the warranty deed occurred and that Plaintiffs had knowledge of the disputed roadway and had agreed to keep the same open to the public.

On or about March 24, 1998, Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint to add an additional cause of action requesting closure of the roadway in dispute. On or about May 28, 1998, said Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint was granted by the Court. Plaintiffs' Amended their Complaint and Defendants answered the same on or about April 29, 1998. On or about July 8, 1998, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Defendants filed a counter Motion for Summary Judgment on or about July 28, 1998. On or about March 8, 1999, the Trial Court issued its Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment partly denying both Motions and permitting the matter to proceed to trial. The Trial Court did find that all evidence regarding the existence of a public roadway prior to the issuance of the Warranty Deeds was irrelevant and inadmissible because no reference to any existing roadway was contained in the Warranty Deed issued by Defendants to Plaintiffs. As such, Defendants were precluded from claiming the existence of a roadway predating the conveyance.

Defendants, who were represented by different counsel at the time, filed a Notice of Appeal on or about March 30, 1999. On or about April 21, 1999, Defendants filed their Motion for Summary Disposition and Plaintiffs filed their counter Motion for Summary Disposition on or about April 23, 1999. Then counsel for Defendants, Attorney Patrick H. Fenton, withdrew from the action on or about May 21, 1999. On or about June 1, 1999, the case was remanded to the trial court for further proceedings and the appeal was dismissed until a final judgment was entered. A Notice of Entry of Appearance as Counsel was filed by the undersigned on or about August 11, 1999 on behalf of Defendants. A trial was held on February 24, 2000.

On or about March 3, 2000, Plaintiffs filed their Proposed Memorandum Decision, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Proposed Decree. On or about March 8, 2000, Defendants filed their Objection thereto and requested a 10-Day Extension in which to file their Proposed Memorandum Decision. The Extension was granted on or about March 17, 2000. Defendants submitted a Motion for Reconsideration on Court's Ruling on Summary Judgment Motions along with their Closing Argument in Support of Motion for Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on or about March 27, 2000. Defendants submitted their Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Proposed Decree on or about April 5, 2000. On or about April 10, 2000, Plaintiffs filed their Objection to Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration on Ruling on Summary Judgment Motions. On or about May 19, 2000, Plaintiffs submitted their Response to Defendants' Objection to Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Notice to Submit to the Court.

The Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on or about May 4, 2000, and issued a Decree and Judgment on or about May 24, 2000, in favor of Plaintiffs holding that an unplatted roadway of some degree did exist and ordered the same to be closed at Plaintiffs' expense, and awarding Plaintiff costs only. On or about June 21, 2000, Defendants filed their Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts are set forth to allow this Court to carefully review the issues in this case. Footnotes, where necessary, help aid the Court in examining the facts in proper context.

1. Defendant Pine Meadows Estates, Inc. is a Utah corporation formed for the purpose of developing a mountain estate subdivision which was accessible by an air strip (R. 347: Pages 12, 13).

2. Several different plats were filed with regard to several phases of the subdivision at different times in the Kane County Recorder's Office (R. 347: Pages 109-111).
3. Prior to filing a plat, Defendant plowed the roads in the subdivision and had the road surveyed in order to draft the plats for future recording in the Kane County Recorder's Office (R. 347: Page 110).
4. In order for the plats to be approved, it was necessary for all roads to be inspected. As such, construction on the roads commenced in 1966 (R. 347: Page 111).
5. The Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road was constructed in 1966. (R. 347: Page 116).
6. The Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road followed an old Timber Road which was there before the property was purchased. (R. 347: Pages 117 - 118, 155, 156, 177).
7. Much of the development occurred within several future subdivisions at the same time even though plats for those subdivisions had not yet been formally recorded with the Kane County Recorder's Office (R. 347: Page 112).
8. The actual recording of Strawberry Valley plat occurred on May 10, 1968 and Ponderosa Villa plat was recorded in 1969 (R. 347: Page 110).
9. Plaintiff purchased two (2) lots, Lots 30 and 39, both located within Strawberry Valley plat and issued checks for the same in 1968. (R. 347: Pages 27-28).
10. At the time Plaintiff purchased the properties, a rough road had been graded in across Lots 30 and 39, linking Strawberry Valley to Ponderosa Villa. The road is identified as the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road (R. 347: Pages 112, 127).
11. Plaintiff asserts that no road traversed the property, but only a four-wheel drive track crossed Lot 38. (R. 347: Page 31).

12. Bill Pringle testified that when Plaintiff purchased the lot, the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road was a narrow road. (R. 347: Page 178)
13. Wallace Holst testified that when he purchased his lot, the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road was a narrow road when he was first there. (R. 347: Page 213)
14. Harry Moyer testified that he purchased his lot in 1967, and constructed his cabin in 1968 and that the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road was a narrow road in 1968. (R. 347: Pages 233-35)
15. Wallace Holst testified that he purchased a lot in 1968 and testified that he went and looked at the Ponderosa Villa Subdivision and drove up the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road. (R. 347: Page 199).
16. Wallace Holst testified that the only way he new how to get to Ponderosa Villa Subdivision was on the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road. (R. 347: Page 201).
17. Wallace Holst testified that he knew the road was there before he built his cabin which was in 1969 or 1970. (R. 347: Page 212)
18. In 1970, Plaintiff commenced construction of his cabin (R. 347: Page 33).
19. Plaintiff asserts that the first time he noticed Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road through his property was on September 18, 1972 (R. 347: Page 35).
20. Between 1973 and 1979, Plaintiff admitted that, on occasion, they witnessed strangers on Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road with Mr. Farney but that there was not a significant amount of use on the road until 1979 (R. 347: Page 40).
21. In 1968 Milt Farney took many people up the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road to show them property in the Ponderosa Villa Subdivision. (R. 347: Page 119)

22. Milt Farney traveled the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road on a daily basis between the years 1967 through 1980. (R. 347: Page 126)
23. Bill Pringle traveled the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road on a daily basis, sometimes hundreds of times each summer between 1968- 1990 and the first time Pringle ever had knowledge that the road was blocked was in the mid 1990's. (R. 347: Page 186).
24. Ronald Lloyd Graham traveled the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road on a regular basis, almost daily basis, several times a day, and never saw the road blocked in 1973-74 or 1980 (R. 347: Page 219).
25. Ronald Lloyd Graham traveled the Valley View Drive/Wilhelm Road on a regular basis, on weekends and vacation days, especially memorial day weekends, in 1986 and other years and he and never saw the road blocked. (R. 347: Page 221).
26. Ronald Lloyd Graham testified that he saw strangers, hunters, snowmobilers, forest service, pedestrians, and was able to use the road anytime he pleased. (R. 347: Pages 222-224).
27. Harry Moyer testified that he saw strangers, hunters, pedestrians, and recreational vehicles use the road. (R. 347: Page 240).
28. Bill Pringle traveled the road daily but only saw the road blocked while the power line was being installed. He never saw the car block the driveway nor did he ever see any logs block the driveway. (R. 347: Pages 189-191)
29. The only blocking Bill Pringle or Wallace Holst saw was in the 1990's. (R. 347: Pages 189, 204)

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