2000

James R. Wilhelm and Linda Rose Wilhelm v. Pine Meadows Estates, Inc., a Utah corporation; Milton R. Farney; Marvin R. Shapiro; Robert C. Dolley :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. Defendants failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the disputed road had been abandoned to public use by the Wilhelms for any continuous ten year period.

One of the great tragedies of this case is the extent to which it represents a violation of the lives and property rights of the Wilhelms. One might expect abuse and harassment such as that directed against the Wilhelms to have occurred under a totalitarian regime, but not here.

It is no small thing that despite the thirty year history of these events no one ever initiated proceedings to obtain any kind of declaration that they had acquired any kind of road rights over the Wilhelms' property, despite the fact that anyone doing so would have the burden of proving dedication and abandonment by clear and convincing evidence.

All with any interest in the issue were content to blade roads without permission, to steal signs, and to tear up barricades, all under cover of a darkness, as it were, created by virtue of the fact that the Wilhelms were not rear round residents and were therefore unable to defend their property. Without intending to be maudlin about it, undersigned counsel submits that the abuse directed against the Wilhelms, first by a developer who blades a road through their property without their permission, and then perpetuated by their neighbors who have an extreme interest in fixing Milt Farney's error in not platting a second access to the lots on top, represents the worst kind of cowardice and deceit.

All the Wilhelms have ever wanted is to be protected in the very fundamental American right of being left alone in the enjoyment of what ought to be a place of peace and refuge. Instead that place has become a site of contention between those who ought to otherwise be friends, thanks to an inept and less than ethical developer whose testimony Judge McIff expressly found unbelievable. Instead the Wilhelms took the initiative and filed this very costly lawsuit, initiated and pressed despite the opposition of the developer and their neighbors, even though they have undisputed title to their property and absolutely nothing the law requires them to prove. Why should this be required of anyone? Wouldn't experience, ethics and common decency all indicate that if Mr. Farney or any of the Wilhelm neighbors truly thought that at some point in time a ten year period of uninterrupted public use had in fact occurred that an action to quiet title to the disputed road would have been filed by one of them? This inaction speaks

volumes about the truth of this case. Either they knew that there was no such ten year period, or they didn't care until now, thirty years later. And, if they didn't care, then their testimony is highly suspect because they did not have enough invested in the issue at the time to be truthful and accurate in their recollections and in the testimony Mr. Farney prompted them to give thirty years after the fact.

The law in Utah is well settled that the burden of proof is on the side trying to prove dedication to the public. *Campbell v. Box Elder County*, 346 U. A. R. 9, 962 P. 2d 806 (Ut. Ct. App., 1998). The law in Utah is also well settled that the burden can only be met by proof which is clear and convincing. *Ibid.* "The law does not lightly allow the transfer of property from private to public use. The public's taking of property in such circumstances as this case presents requires proof of dedication by clear and convincing evidence . [Citations omitted.] This higher standard of proof is demanded since the ownership of property should be granted a high degree of sanctity and respect. [Citation omitted.] In addition, 'the presumption is in favor of the property owner; and the burden of establishing public use for the required period of time is on those claiming it. [Citations omitted.]" *Draper City v. Estate of Bernardo*, 888 P. 2d 1097, 1099 (Ut., 1995).

Appellants' primary attack is an assault on Judge McIff's Findings of Fact as against the clear weight of the evidence. The Wilhelms respectfully submit that those Findings are amply supported by the record as demonstrated above. But more significantly, this assault on Judge McIff's Findings of Fact begs the primary question

here, that being whether appellants even came close to carrying their burden of proving abandonment and dedication by clear and convincing evidence. The Wilhelms and appellants can debate the evidence, and this court can review it, but when all is said and done Judge McIff was not persuaded as there was clear and convincing proof of anything Mr. Farney wanted proven at trial.

In their conclusion (Appellants' Brief, p. 50), appellants incredibly ask the court to simply overturn Judge McIff and declare a public road. How does this court tell Judge McIff that he should have been persuaded by what he heard? Every witness for appellants had a different recollection of the history of the road and its gradual improvement. By their accounts the "road" was bladed, not bladed, narrow, two tracked, or twenty feet wide when Mr. Wilhelm bought his property. None of these people recalled the blocking of the road, but so what? Even if telling the truth, and there is some doubt about that given the amount of animus which now exists, these people were summer visitors to Cedar Mountain, just like the Wilhelms, all with floating and varying schedules and agendas. It is not even surprising that they don't recall, or choose not to recall, the blockades. It is also noteworthy that the key witnesses the Wilhelms could have called to corroborate those early events are now deceased, as stated by counsel for appellants in objections to Mr. Wilhelm's descriptions of those events.

None of all the witnesses appellants chose to present had an actual line of sight from their respective properties to observe first hand what use was or was not made of the

disputed road. Some had cabins up on top, some below, but none in the immediate vicinity. On cross-examination it became clear that their testimony as to use of the road was by opinion and reputation, not by first hand observation. On the other hand, Mr. Wilhelm testified directly as to what he saw over those thirty years, i.e., very little use of the disputed road by anyone and relative peace and quiet, except for periodic disruptions to which he responded by blocking the road. His testimony was corroborated in a general way by Mr. Pringle who testified that he knew the Wilhelms were upset before the 1990's and that "they possibly had just cause for that because you start out with 560 acres and all of a sudden you have 800 and 900 customers, and then you start getting a lot of traffic that you never saw like in 1970. All of a sudden in the 1990's this traffic has tripled and quadrupled, and he did discuss that with me and I discussed it with him, too." (R. 347 at 196).

As Judge McIff concluded in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, "all of this adds up to a failure on the part of the defendants to meet their burden of proof." (R. 313). The judgment below should be affirmed.

II. By no stretch of the imagination are Judge McIff's Forty-Six Findings of Fact clearly erroneous.

By Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, "findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses."

Findings are not clearly erroneous if they simply disagree with a disappointed litigant's view of the evidence. The clearly erroneous standard does not eliminate the deference traditionally accorded to the fact finder to determine the credibility of witnesses. *State v. Wright*, 744 P. 2d 315 (Ut. Ct. App., 1987). Under this standard, the appellate court defers to the trial court's factual assessment unless there is clear error. *Copper State Leasing Co. v. Blacker Appliance & Furn. Co.*, 770 P. 2d 88 (Ut., 1988). If there is a reasonable basis in the evidence for the findings, they should be affirmed. *Gillmor v. Gillmor*, 745 P. 2d 461 (Ut. Ct. App., 1987).

In the present case, all of Judge McIff's Findings are amply supported by the record, as demonstrated above at *subsection iii* of the Wilhelms' Statement of Facts. And, as urged in the preceding section of this Argument, appellants' argument that Judge McIff's Findings of Fact are clearly erroneous is pointless in any case because appellants simply failed to carry their burden of proof.

III. Appellants failed to prove that a ten year public road existed which superceded the recording of the Strawberry Valley Estates, Unit II, plat.

During the course of proceedings below, appellants' strategy has shifted between trying to prove a public road pre-dating the plat, as in their early motions, and trying to prove ten years uninterrupted use after the Wilhelms bought the property. At trial they attempted to prove both, and failed to prove either.

With respect to the pre-existing road, none of the witnesses, no matter how long they stared into the stereoscopic view of the 1960 photos could find a road which

corresponded to the location of the disputed road. It simply was not there. Mr. Wilhelm bought his lots in 1968, less than ten years later. His purchase contract recites that he is buying Lots 38 and 39, Strawberry Valley Estates, Unit II, “as per Map on file in the Office of the Kane County Recorder, State of Utah, subject to: covenants, conditions, restrictions, reservations, rights, and rights of way and easements *of record*.” (Pl. Ex. 26). Because ten years had not elapsed since the 1960 photos which show no road, it simply is not possible for anyone to prove that a public road superceded either the plat or Mr. Wilhelm’s purchase of his lots. Pine Meadows Estates, in recording the plat, repudiated any “road” inconsistent with that plat, and in this case there was no road visible in the area of the disputed road as of a date within ten years prior to the recording of the plat.

As Judge McIff stated, “Under the facts of this case, these defendants are precluded from asserting that a public thoroughfare existed when the plats were recorded in 1968 and 1969 and when the deeds were issued in 1972 and 1975; and this is so *even if the proof were sufficient to establish a pre-existing ‘public thoroughfare’ which the Court concludes it is not,*” adding at footnote one, that “*the old unimproved roads (before platting) did not reach the status of public thoroughfares.*” [Emphasis supplied.] (R. 315).

IV. Appellants are estopped from asserting a ten year public road pre-dating their deeds.

Appellants assail Judge McIff’s conclusion that they are precluded from asserting a public road predating the plat with the claims that (1) it is too late to do so, the statute of

limitations for breach of deed covenants having run; and (2) they were prevented from presenting evidence to establish a pre-existing road.

With respect to the latter, the claim simply has no foundation. Judge McIff allowed into the record every scrap of evidence appellants wanted to put into the record, and, despite his earlier ruling on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, he specifically found that the evidence was insufficient to establish any public thoroughfare pre-dating the plat. Appellants' version of the evidence was presented and rejected. There is nothing else to be done.

With respect to the former, appellants misconstrue the manner in which the plat-deeds set of facts is being used. No damages were awarded for breach of any deed covenant, even though there is a continuing statutory covenant in the deeds that Pine Meadows Estates "will forever warrant and defend the title thereof in the grantee, his heirs, and assigns against all lawful claims whatsoever." Section 57-1-12, Utah Code. The principle relied on by the Wilhelms and Judge McIff is that of *estoppel*. Pine Meadows Estates cannot on the one hand warrant title, and on the other say, sorry, we didn't really mean it, your title is subject to a pre-existing road. As Judge McIff noted in his conclusions, "When Pine Meadows and its close circle of owners, officers and directors selected among the old unimproved roads those for inclusion in its formal plats, it necessarily evidenced its intent to abandon others not so included. . . . It is untenable as a matter of law for either defendants or the County to include some old improved roads,

elevating them to the status of platted roads, exclude others and then claim those excluded encumber lots which appear on the face of the plat to be unencumbered.” (R. 316).

Support for this analysis is found in the basic common law concept of Estoppel by Deed, which “rests upon the inequity of allowing the party estopped from asserting a contrary position. The principle is that when a man has entered into a solemn engagement by deed, he shall not be permitted to deny any matter which he has asserted therein, for a deed is a solemn act to any part of which the law gives effect as a deliberate admission of the maker. . . . *Estoppel and Waiver, Section 4, 28 Am Jur 2d* 603 (1966). *cf. Hall v. Fitzgerald, 671 P. 2d* 224 (Ut., 1983). Judge McIff was entirely correct in his application of estoppel to the facts of this case.

V. There is no need of any kind for any more detailed Findings of Fact on the Wilhelms’ blocking of the disputed road. The findings Judge McIff made are more than sufficient to support his Legal Conclusions.

Appellants challenge Judge McIff’s Findings of Fact as inadequate on the question of whether Mr. Wilhelm in fact blocked the road. Appellants overlook the fact that Judge McIff expressly found the uses made of the disputed road to be “sporadic and limited,” rather than continuous (R. 318). This Finding is expressly supported by the testimony of plaintiff and Jim Wilhelm as well as by defense witness Bill Pringle (R. 347 at 196).

Appellants also overlook the fact that Judge McIff found such use as was made to have been made “by neighbors within the subdivision developed by Pine Meadows as opposed to members of the general public.” (R. 318). Use by neighboring land owners

and their personal visitors is not sufficient to prove *public* use. These persons “cannot be numbered in the class of members of the general public using such road in a fashion that might ripen into a dedication under the road statute.” *Peterson v. Combe*, 20 Ut. 2d 376, 438 P. 2d 545 (Utah, 1968)

With these other findings by Judge McIff, no detailed findings as to the quality, extent, or duration of the blocking is even relevant or necessary since even without *any* blocking of the disputed road, continuous public use simply was not proven.

In his Findings of Fact, Judge McIff found that the blocking corresponded with the attempted use.

“ 37. Plaintiff’s blocking efforts were not exhaustive but neither was the amount of use. Moreover, the use appears essentially to have been made by neighbors within the subdivisions developed by Pine Meadows as opposed to members of the general public.

“38. By the time the 1990's arrived, the amount of use had increased and during or about 1993 plaintiffs responded with signs and by installing steel posts in cement with a lock chain blocking access.” (R. 318).

This is a perfectly fair characterization of the evidence. It places neither too great nor too little emphasis on the blocking. It recognizes that there are few witnesses to the early blockings precisely because there was no extensive public use. It is entirely adequate because appellants presented no sufficient, clear and convincing evidence of continuous public use of the disputed road.

VI. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed and the case remanded to the trial court for determination and award of attorney's fees incurred on appeal.

In other cases, this Court has affirmed the judgment below at the same time that it has remanded to the trial court for a determination and award of attorney's fees and costs incurred on appeal. *cf. Porco v. Porco*, 79 U. A. R. 35, 752 P. 2d 365 (Ut. Ct. App., 1988) and cases cited therein.

Undersigned counsel is not in the habit of asking for sanctions on opposing parties, as most often points are legitimately debatable, and as he values his relationships with opposing counsel in general, these opposing counsel in particular. Nevertheless, given Judge McIff's detailed factual findings, given the standard of review, given Judge McIff's polite finding that Milt Farney simply did not tell the truth on the witness stand, and given the fact that each point appellants' attempt to assert is rendered moot by their own failure to prove public use by clear and convincing evidence, the Wilhelms submit that justice would be served in a small way by compelling these appellants to bear the cost of defending against this appeal. The Wilhelms submit that this appeal meets the standard of a frivolous appeal, i.e., "one having no reasonable legal or factual basis," *Porco v. Porco*, *supra*, at 369, or as in Rule 33, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, "not grounded in fact, not warranted by existing law, or not based on a good faith argument to extend, modify, or reverse existing law."

CONCLUSION

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